
 

 

 
Agenda 

Meeting Harrogate and Knaresborough Area Planning Committee 

To: Councillors Chris Aldred (Chair), John Mann (Vice-Chair), 
Philip Broadbank, Hannah Gostlow, Robert Windass, 
Peter Lacey and Paul Haslam. 

Date: Tuesday, 26 August 2025 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber - Civic Centre, St Luke's Avenue, 
Harrogate, HG1 2AE 

 
This meeting is being live broadcast and recorded and will be available to view via our website and 
uploaded to our Youtube channel.  
 

Business 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Minutes for the Meeting held on 27 May 2025 
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

3.   Declarations of Interests 
 

 

4.   ZC24/00007/FULMAJ - Land comprising field at 439839 464979, 
Boroughbridge. North Yorkshire 
 

(Pages 7 - 38) 

5.   Any other items  
 Any other items which the Chair agrees should be considered as a matter of urgency 

because of special circumstances. 
 

6.   Date of Next Meeting  
 Tuesday, 30 September 2025 at 2.00pm. 

 
 
Members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting as observers for all those items taken in 
open session. You may be interested in subscribing to updates about this or any other North 
Yorkshire Council committee. 
 
Recording is allowed at Council, committee and sub-committee meetings which are open to the 
public. Please give due regard to the Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography 
at public meetings. We ask that any recording is clearly visible to anyone at the meeting and that it 
is non-disruptive. 
 
Anyone wishing to record is asked to contact the Democratic Services Officer (details below) prior 
to the start of the meeting.  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/your-council/councillors-committees-and-meetings/live-meetings
https://www.youtube.com/@northyorksc
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fedemocracy.northyorks.gov.uk%2Fielogon.aspx%3Flp%3D1%26RPID%3D4447149%26HPID%3D4447149%26Forms%3D1%26META%3DmgSubscribeLogon&data=05%7C02%7CStJohn.Harris%40northyorks.gov.uk%7C06eb409ac8c14b9d750b08dc85fb027a%7Cad3d9c73983044a1b487e1055441c70e%7C0%7C0%7C638532560314589735%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=y6KMH%2Ff5YtMYH%2B%2FonL1UxYBOKc5Gsf%2ByO4l9k%2FFB1xQ%3D&reserved=0


 

 
 

 

If you are exercising your right to speak at this meeting but do not wish to be recorded, please 
inform the Chair who will instruct anyone who may be taking a recording to cease while you speak. 
 

Contact Details  
For enquiries relating to this agenda and meeting please contact: 
E-mail: democraticservices.central@northyorks.gov.uk 
Tel: 01757 292065 
Website: www.northyorks.gov.uk 
 

 
 
Friday, 15 August 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/


 
 

North Yorkshire Council 
 

Harrogate and Knaresborough Area Planning Committee 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 27 May 2025 commencing at 2.00 pm. 
 
Councillor Haslam in the Chair plus Councillors Philip Broadbank, Robert Windass, Sam Gibbs, 
Monika Slater and Andrew Timothy 
 
Officers present: Glenn Sharpe - Senior Solicitor, Planning and Environment, Nick Turpin – 

Development Service Manager, Kate Broadbank – Principal Planning Officer, 
Edward Maxwell – Senior Democratic Services Officer; and Dawn Drury – 
Democratic Services Officer 

 
Apologies: Councillors Mann, Aldred, Gostlow and Lacey 
 

 
Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book 

 

 
35 Election of Chair 

 
In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair the Democratic Services Officer sought 
nominations for a Chair from the Members present. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Philip Broadbank and seconded by Councillor Robert 
Windass that Councillor Paul Haslam by elected as Chair for the meeting.  A vote was 
taken, and the decision was carried unanimously. 
 
Resolved 
 
That Councillor Paul Haslam be duly elected as Chair of the Harrogate and Knaresborough 
Area Planning Committee for this meeting.  
 

36 Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mann, Aldred, Gostlow and Lacey.  
Councillors Monika Slater, Andrew Timothy and Sam Gibbs acted as substitutes. 
 

37 Minutes for the Meeting held on 28 January 2025 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2025 were confirmed and signed as an 
accurate record. 
 

38 Declarations of Interests 
 
Councillor Monika Slater declared an interest in item 4 of the agenda, purely for 
transparency, as until the end of this academic year her son attended Harrogate College.  
She confirmed that she would keep an open mind, and that this would not affect her 
decision. 
 
Councillor Andrew Timothy declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 4 of the agenda, as he 
was employed by Tom Gordon MP, the Member of Parliament for Harrogate and 
Knaresborough, who had had involvement with the funding of the college.  He confirmed 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 
 

that he would be keeping an open mind. 
 
For transparency, Councillor Philip Broadbank stated that he was related, very distantly, to 
the planning case officer for agenda item 4.  He confirmed that he would be keeping an 
open mind, and that he would speak and vote on the item. 
 

39 ZC23/02990/FULMAJ - Harrogate College, Hornbeam Park Avenue, Harrogate, HG2 
8QT 
 
The Assistant Director Planning, Community Development Services sought determination of 
a planning application for the demolition of existing buildings and construction of a new 
teaching building, new workshop building and cycle shelter with associated access, parking, 
drainage, landscaping, ancillary roof top plant and solar panels at Harrogate College, 
Hornbeam Park Avenue, Harrogate, HG2 8QT. 
 
The application had been referred to the Harrogate and Knaresborough Area Planning 
Committee at the request of the local ward councillor. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report and highlighted the location and site 
description; context to the application and the proposals for parking both during the 
construction period and once operational. 
 
Providing an update to their report, the officer advised Members of the following. 
 

 At paragraph 10.71, the increase in hedgerow units would be 116.45% rather than 
the 73.41% stated within the report. 

 Since publication of the agenda pack a further 12 letters of objection to the scheme 
had been received by the planning authority from local residents, Hornbeam Park 
Developments and the Oatlands and Pannal Ash Road Safety and Active Travel 
Campaign.  All the comments except for the letter from the Active Travel Campaign 
group, which had just been received, were available to read on the North Yorkshire 
Council Public Access pages on the website. The letters raised concerns regarding 
the lack of off-street parking for staff and students during construction, the lack of 
operational parking to meet demand, the parking survey was not carried out at an 
appropriate time, parking disruption during construction and lack of available spaces 
on site which would lead to inconvenience, safety concerns for local residents and 
inadequate parking once operational which would have a negative impact on the 
surrounding residential streets with increased congestion.  It was felt that the old 
building was not suitable for conversion and new facilities were essential for the 
college’s future development, however, the loss of parking spaces would have a 
serious impact on traffic flow and that a temporary car park should be created on 
adjacent land.  Potential conflict and potential safety issues for children on their way 
to and from school. It had been requested that the Committee consider conditions 
and mitigations during construction and queried if a speed restriction could be 
imposed.      

 The applicant had also submitted a further supporting letter which was available to 
read on NYC Public Access.   

 The officer confirmed that all the concerns raised in the additional letters had been 
taken into account during consideration of the application. 

 With regard to the Flood Risk Sequential Assessment at paragraph 10.67 of the 
report, for clarification, as this was a demolition and rebuild of new buildings and not 
an extension that reference to the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) was 
not considered relevant and there were no sequentially preferrable sites available. 

 In relation to the Equality Act it had been confirmed that the proposals had ensured 
that there would be no disadvantage to elderly or disabled persons due to the 
parking arrangements, as accessible spaces would remain available during the 

Page 2Page 4



 
 

construction and also form part of the new parking arrangements.  The development 
would have a positive effect on persons with protected characteristics through 
provisions of accessible education facilities and amenity spaces that encouraged 
interaction between people. 

 The red line on the location plan within the committee report was slightly incorrect 
along the northeast boundary and should follow the boundary line of the northeast 
side of the site. 

 In relation to the emerging Local Plan, the Issues and Options consultation had 
commenced and would run until the middle of July 2025, the site also fell within the 
Harrogate Neighbourhood Plan area, and this area had been approved in January 
this year. 

 It was proposed that an amendment to the wording of condition 25 of the report be 
made to confirm that all eternal facing windows would have laminated glass 
incorporated to a minimum thickness of 7.5mm, not just ground floor windows. 

 
David Waddington spoke objecting to the application.  
 
Councillor John Mann spoke as the Division Member, objecting to the application, and then 
left the meeting and did not return. 
 
The applicant, Colin Booth, spoke in support of the application.  
 
During consideration of the application, Members questioned officers on the following issue 

 It was queried where the request for a temporary car park had originated from. 
 
Councillor Timothy felt that substantial measures had been put in place with regard to 
parking; the Travel Plan was comprehensive, there were conditions in place at 3 and 4 of 
the report to ensure that the public highway was made back to an appropriate standard 
should any damage to the road surface occur as a result of the development; and there 
were also measures to be implemented for members of the college staff to ensure that 
parking did not cause an issue locally. 
 
Councillor Gibbs stated that he was supportive of the redevelopment of Harrogate College 
overall, however, he understood the objectors concerns around parking, particularly in 
respect of the 15 spaces available during construction; he queried if the Committee voted 
for a deferral of the application, as had been mentioned by the Ward Member during public 
speaking, how likely was that to lead to a more appropriate outcome in terms of the parking 
provision.  The Chair reminded Members that should they vote for a deferral that they would 
need credible reasons for doing so.  The officer advised that there was not an alternative 
parking solution, and that Highways had assessed the site and were satisfied with the 
measures in place.   
 
Discussion took place between Members and the officer regarding parking with the Chair 
summarising the issues as: the parking capacity, the safety aspect on local roads, the work 
being done to achieve a 20 mile an hour speed limit in that area, what form the monitoring 
report would take, and if issues were to occur how would the public report this to the 
Council.  Finally, the Chair asked officers for reassurance that all the issues had been 
considered and there would be careful monitoring of the Travel Plan. 
 
The officer explained that in terms of monitoring, there was a condition within the committee 
report at number 28, this required quarterly monitoring reports to be provided for the full 
duration of the construction period, and this would assess the targets set out in the Travel 
Plan and ensure that they were being met.  If issues were to occur, the Council’s planning 
department would be made aware, and they would work with the College and Highways to 
resolve them.  Once operational the Travel Plan would be monitored for a further five years.    
 

Page 3Page 5



 
 

With regard to members of the public reporting parking issues, Members heard that they 
would report them to North Yorkshire Council’s Enforcement Team, who would review any 
complaints, investigate the problem and then take enforcement action if necessary. 
 
The Chair queried if Members could amend condition 28 to modify the frequency of the 
monitoring reports, the officer confirmed that this was possible.  
 
Lastly, the Chair asked for examples of recourse the Council would have if the monitoring 
reports showed more traffic was being displaced than was set out in the targets.  The officer 
advised that the College would be expected to put different measures in place to resolve the 
problem, and the Enforcement Team had powers to deal with noncompliance of conditions 
during the construction and build.  There were enforcement measures which could prevent 
building taking place, or put a hold on the build, but it would depend on the situation at that 
particular time. 
 
The officer highlighted that at condition 28, the final sentence, officers would like to add the 
additional two words, and implemented, after the Local Planning Authority, therefore the 
complete sentence would read:  Any improvement measures will be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, and implemented; and future monitoring reports shall also 
consider performance against these additional measures. 
 
Councillor Broadbank requested that the monitoring reports be submitted every two months, 
rather than quarterly, as stated within the committee report. 
 
Councillor Timothy proposed, and Councillor Windass seconded that the application be 
approved with the amendments to conditions 25 and 28 made, as detailed below. 
 

 At condition 25, all eternal facing windows would have laminated glass incorporated 
to a minimum thickness of 7.5mm, not just ground floor windows. 

 

 At condition 28, the frequency of submission of the monitoring report be amended to 
every two months and the additional two words “and implemented” be added to the 
final sentence.  

 
Decision 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in section 12 of the 
committee report, the prior completion of a Section 106 agreement, and the amendments to 
conditions 25 and 28, in respect of all ground floor windows in the building and the 
frequency of submission of the Travel Plan Monitoring Reports, as set out above. 
 
Voting record 
 
A vote was taken, and the motion was carried by 5 votes for and 1 abstention. 
 

40 Any other items 
 
There were no other items. 
 

41 Date of Next Meeting 
 
Tuesday 24 June 2025 at 2.00 pm. 
 
 

The meeting concluded at 2.55 pm. 

Page 4Page 6



 

 

North Yorkshire Council 
 

Community Development Services 
 

Harrogate and Knaresborough Area Planning Committee 
 

26 AUGUST 2025 
 
ZC24/00007/FULMAJ - FULL PLANNING APPLICATION FOR THE RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT OF 195 NO. DWELLINGS (PHASE 2), INCLUDING DEMOLITION OF 
EXISITNG SINGLE DWELLING, WITH ASSOCIATED ACCESS, INFRASTRUCTURE AND 
LANDSCAPING 
 
AT LAND COMPRISING FIELD AT 439839 464979, BOROUGHBRIDGE, NORTH 
YORKSHIRE 
 
ON BEHALF OF BELLWAY HOMES LTD (YORKSHIRE) 
 
Report of the Assistant Director Planning – Community Development Services 
 
1.0  Purpose of the Report 

1.1   To determine a planning application for 195 no. dwellings with associated access, 
infrastructure and landscaping on land at field 439839 464979, south of Chapel Hill, 
Boroughbridge. 

1.2    The application is brought to Planning Committee due to the scale of the scheme, 
which is considered to raise significant planning issues. 

 
2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be GRANTED subject to 
conditions. 

 
2.1. The application seeks full planning permission for the development of 195 dwellings 

on land to the south of Chapel Hill, Boroughbridge. The application site is the second 
phase of a wider housing development on the southern edge of the town. The first 
phase is currently under construction with some properties already occupied. The 
planning history to the site is explained in section 3.0 below.  
 

2.2. The site (phases 1 and 2) is allocated in the adopted Harrogate District Local Plan as 
site B12: Land at Stump Cross, Boroughbridge with an indicative yield of 397 
dwellings (phases 1 and 2). Housing development of the site is therefore acceptable 
in principle.  
 

2.3. During the course of the application and following consultee comments, there has 
been alteration to the site layout, landscaping, house design and mix, information 
relating to the proximity to notable trees on site and an updated Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA). These matters are considered to sufficiently resolve the concerns 
raised within the initial consultee comments with regards to the Housing Officer, 
Highways Officer, Lead Local Flood Authority, Yorkshire Water, Ecologist, Landscape 
Officer and Arborist. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

commrep/2 

2 

 
2.4. It is considered that the benefit of the provision of 195 dwellings to an allocated site 

provides a significant contribution to the delivery of housing where the Council 
housing land supply is currently 2.8 years. In this instance, there is not considered to 
be material harm created by the development sufficient to outweigh the benefits 
provided by the scheme. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

commrep/3 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

commrep/4 

4 

 
3.0 Preliminary Matters 
 
3.1. Access to the case file on Public Access can be found here.  

 
3.2. The following planning history is relevant:  

 
17/04319/OUTMAJ – Outline application for up to 450 dwellings (40% affordable 
housing) including demolition of existing structures, planting and landscaping, public 
open space, sustainable drainage and ancillary works with access considered. 
Approved 11.04.2019.  
 
17/03809/SCREEN – Environmental Impact Assessment Screening Opinion for 
erection of up to 450 dwellings, greenspace, community facility/open space, habitat 
creation, SUDS, associated infrastructure and access. EIA not required. 18.09.2017.  
 
21/03683/REMMAJ – Reserved matters application under outline 17/04319/OUTMAJ 
for the erection of 256 dwelling houses (phase 1) with access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for consideration (revised scheme). Outline application 
was not subject to an EIA. Approved 24.02.2022.   
 
20/00928/REMMAJ – Reserved matters application under outline permission 
17/04319/OUTMAJ for the erection of up to 214 dwelling houses (phase 2) with 
access and layout only for consideration. Refused 11.01.2023. 
 
ZC24/00784/SCREEN – Request for a screening opinion in relation to proposed 
erection of 258 dwellings (Phase 2) including demolition of existing structures with 
associated access, infrastructure and landscaping. EIA not required. 13.03.2024.  

 
3.3. Outline planning permission for residential development for up to 450 dwellings was 

granted in 2019 for both the Phase 1 and Phase 2 areas. A reserved matters 
application for 256 dwellings was granted in 2022 for Phase 1, the northern part of 
the wider site.  
 

3.4. A reserved matters application for up to 214 dwellings was submitted for Phase 1 
however this was refused due to a lack of information provided to demonstrate an 
acceptable scheme. The ability to submit a further reserved matters application under 
the outline has subsequently expired therefore a new full planning application has 
been submitted.  
 

3.5. As a new application, this is not bound by the requirements of the outline permission 
and whilst this context is a material consideration, the application is considered on its 
own merits under the current policy framework. 

  
4.0 Site and Surroundings 
 
4.1. The application site is an area of predominantly agricultural land, measuring 

approximately 9.65 hectares in area. A former farmhouse and area of hardstanding 
Page 10

https://publicaccess.northyorks.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S6MJV8HYJHP00


 

commrep/5 

5 

also exist on the site with an existing access from the A168. The site is located on the 
southern edge of Boroughbridge, adjacent to the A168. Vehicular access is proposed 
from Chapel Hill to the north, through the Phase 1 site. 
 

4.2. Trees and hedgerows follow the boundaries with scattered trees located within the 
northern and eastern parts of the site. Two trees on the site are identified as veteran 
trees.  Whilst the majority of the site is within Flood Zone 1, areas of Flood Zones 2 
and 3 for surface water flooding exist within the northern section of the site close to 
the farmhouse.  
 

4.3. A Tree Preservation Order (17/00058/TPORDR) covers trees along the western 
boundary of the A168 and trees along field boundaries within the wider site, with 4 
groups of trees within and directly adjacent to the proposal site. The amended 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment report indicates that a number of trees in group G7, 
along and adjacent to the northern border of the proposal site, require removal due to 
declined health. All other trees within this Order would be retained.  

 
5.0 Description of Proposal 
 
5.1. This application seeks full planning permission for the development of 195 dwellings 

with associated access, infrastructure and landscaping. The works require the 
demolition of one existing dwelling house. The application was originally submitted for 
258 dwellings. This has subsequently been reduced following design amendments 
and an improvement in the layout of the development.  
 

5.2. Access to the site will be through the site immediately to the north, which connects to 
Chapel Hill. An emergency vehicular access is proposed to the A168, controlled by a 
lockable gate. The outline permission for the two sites envisaged that access, surface 
water drainage and open space would be shared between the two areas. The 
attenuation ponds to the west of the Phase 1 site have therefore been designed to 
accommodate flows from this site. An area of open space to the east is also to serve 
both sites.  

 
6.0 Planning Policy and Guidance 
 
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all 

planning authorities must determine each application under the Planning Acts in 
accordance with Development Plan so far as material to the application unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Adopted Development Plan  

6.2. The Adopted Development Plan for this site is the Harrogate District Local Plan 2014-
2035, adopted March 2020.  

 
 Emerging Development Plan – Material Consideration 
6.3. The North Yorkshire Local Plan is the emerging development plan for this site, 

however no weight can be applied in respect of this document at the current time, as 
it is at an early stage of preparation.  

Page 11



 

commrep/6 

6 

 
Guidance - Material Considerations 

6.4. Relevant guidance for this application is: 
 

• National Planning Policy Framework  
• National Planning Practice Guidance 
• National Design Guide 2021 
• Affordable Housing SPD 2021 
• Providing Net Gain for Biodiversity SPD 2021 
• Provision of Open Space and Village Halls SPD 2021 
• Harrogate Landscape Character Assessment 2004 
• Landscape Design Guide 2023 

 
7.0 Consultation Responses 
 
7.1. The following consultation responses have been received and have been 

summarised below.  
 

7.2. Boroughbridge Town Council: Object on the following grounds:  
 
Planning for 214 dwellings was refused, so we wonder why there is now a further 
application for 258 dwellings. Over-density; there are no green spaces on the second 
phase of this development.  This development is not in keeping with rural settlement 
and is outside the development line. Access onto Chapel Hill is not good as there are 
already too many vehicles coming onto this junction, plus the addition of two new bus 
stops.  Access would be better from the A168. The Town’s infrastructure cannot 
support the amount of houses. Judging by the recent weeks activity, Yorkshire Water 
are unable to cope with capacity. 
 

7.3. NYC Planning Services: No comments in relation to minerals and waste 
safeguarding. 

7.4. NYC Parks and Open Space: Commuted sum calculation provided.   
7.5. NY Police: Provided comments in relation to climbing aids created (e.g. boundary 

treatments). Details of appropriate street lighting required.  
7.6. NYC Environmental Health: Suggests conditions relating to land contamination, 

noise and construction management plan.  
7.7. NYC Education: Commuted sum calculation provided. 
7.8. NYC Landscape: Provides comments. Seeks pedestrian link to phase 1 

development, design suggestions made with regards to tree size, species and further 
planting within the proposal site.  

7.9. NYC Housing: No objection to housing mix or compliance with NDSS spaces 
standard on receipt of additional information. 

7.10. NYC Highways: Suggests conditions relating to road and footway layout, 
construction of roads prior to occupation, CMP, a condition survey, off site highways 
works, parking to be retained, Travel Plan and management of non-adopted areas. 

7.11. NYC Arboriculture: No objection to amended AIA and AMS received 05.08.25. 
7.12. NYC Lead Local Flood Authority: Objection raised initially, however amended 

details received and objection removed 27.06.2025, subject to conditions relating to 

Page 12



 

commrep/7 

7 

surface water drainage during construction and submission of a foul and surface 
water drainage scheme in accordance with the submitted FRA. 

7.13. NYC Ecology: Conditions relating to CEMP, BNG and purchase of off-site credits, 
S106 for management and maintenance. Amended plans adequately resolve 
concerns regarding minimal encroachment of Veteran root protection area, subject to 
Arborist comments. 

7.14. NYC Urban Design: Neither supports or objects, provides comments on design 
improvements. Amended plans received following comments received. 

7.15. Active Travel England: Requests revisions to areas of concern relating to; access to 
bus stops; widening, lighting and landscaping of central path; alteration to materials to 
mown walkways. Amended plans received following comments received. 

7.16. MoD: No objection.  
7.17. Yorkshire Water: No objections. 

 
Local Representations 

7.18. Thirteen local representations have been received, objecting to the proposed 
development. A summary of the comments is provided below, however, please see 
website for full comments.  
 

• Adverse traffic impact, congestion and road safety. Traffic calming measures 
should be included within Phase 1.  

• The emergency access should also be used as a main access to the site.  
• No capacity at schools, doctors, dentists or hospital. 
• Local people cannot afford the price of new dwellings and this pushes other 

house prices up. 
• Local dental surgery does not have capacity for new patients.  
• Greenfield site and agricultural land should be preserved for food production.  
• Construction traffic should be restricted along Brigante Place and dust/dirt 

cleaned regularly. Staff and contractor parking should be provided on Phase 
2.  

• The proposed development is much denser than Phase 1 and insufficient 
open space provided on site. 

• There are issues with the sewage treatment plant at Aldborough, 
contamination and flooding.  

• Poor access to public transport and not within walking distance or primary 
school or town centre.  

• A bus route should not be included on Phase 1 due to amenity and safety 
concerns.  

• A village hall should be provided on site. 
• Loss of privacy, overlooking and overshadowing of existing dwellings.  
• Loss of views of the countryside.  
• Loss of trees, negative impact upon biodiversity and inadequate landscaping.   
• Noise and odour pollution.  
• Are restrictive covenants in place that would prevent the development? 

Devaluation of property values. The location of the Bellway sales office needs 
careful consideration (these matters are not material considerations). 

• Boroughbridge has had more than its fair share of development. 

Page 13



 

commrep/8 

8 

• Impact on the visual, historic and archaeological qualities to the edge of 
Boroughbridge  

• Oversupply of houses in the district. 
• Concerns regarding timing of application ahead of new Local Plan. 

 
8.0 Environment Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
8.1. The development falls within Schedule 2 Category 10(b) Urban Development Projects 

of The Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017 (as amended) and 
exceeds threshold (ii) due to being a development of more than 150 dwellings. As 
such the Council as Local Planning Authority have screened the development and 
found that it is not EIA development and no Environmental Statement is required to 
be submitted with the application. The Screening Checklist which acts as the report 
and decision, is available to view on the Council’s website under application 
reference ZC24/00784/SCREEN. Nothing has changed since the Screening Decision 
and it is still effective for the Committee Decision.  

9.0 Main Issues 
 
9.1. The key considerations in the assessment of this application are: 
 

- Principle and Housing land Supply 
- Compliance with Site Requirements 
- Affordable Housing 
- Design and Layout 
- Highways and Accessibility 
- Flood Risk and Drainage 
- Landscaping and Trees 
- Ecology 
- Environmental Health 
- Other Matters 
- S106 Contributions  

 
10.0 ASSESSMENT 
 

Principle and Housing Land Supply 
 

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Harrogate District Local Plan was 
adopted by the former Harrogate Borough Council on 4th March 2020.  
 

10.2. The recent revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework have introduced 
changes to the way housing need is calculated. As the extant Harrogate Local Plan is 
now more than five years old, those policies relating to housing supply can no longer 
be given full weight. The five-year supply for the former Harrogate area, including the 
relevant 5% buffer, is 5492. Based on the most recent data (from the 2023/2024 
monitoring period), there is a demonstrable deliverable supply of 3111 dwellings over 
a five-year period. This translates to 2.8 years of housing supply when measured 

Page 14



 

commrep/9 

9 

against the five-year supply requirement. Therefore, paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is 
engaged for applications involving the provision of housing i.e. the presumption of 
sustainable development.  
 

10.3. Paragraph 11(d) states that planning permission should be granted unless: 
 
i) The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a strong reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii) Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken 
as a whole, having particular regard to key policies for directing development 
to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, securing well-designed 
places and providing affordable homes, individually or in combination.  

 
10.4. Footnote 7 of the NPPF sets out those areas where policies can provide a strong 

reason for refusing the development proposed. The site does not fall into any of 
these.  
 

10.5. It is important to note that the engagement of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development does not negate the usual balancing exercise and policy requirements 
are not overlooked due to the lack of a five-year supply. Policy requirements should 
be applied to assess conformity, or non-conformity, to establish any degree of harm 
and to take into consideration in the overall balancing process. Whilst it is important 
that the Local Plan allocations and other schemes are brought forward proactively, 
these must also be well-designed and in sustainable locations. Almost all policies in 
the Harrogate Local Plan retain some weight and many remain unaffected by the 
revised NPPF.  
 

10.6. Local Plan Policy GS1 identifies the housing supply figure for the area; this is no 
longer applicable. Policy GS2 provides a settlement hierarchy to direct development. 
The amount of weight to be given to this policy will depend on the specific proposal. 
Boroughbridge is identified as a Local Service Centre where land will be allocated to 
deliver new homes. In accordance with this, Policy DM1 identifies the site as falling 
within housing allocation B12: Land at Stump Cross, Boroughbridge. The principle of 
housing development on the site is therefore acceptable.  
 

10.7. The site requirements suggest an indicative yield of 397 dwellings. The northern 
section of the allocation has been granted planning permission for 256 dwellings. This 
application applies for 195 dwellings therefore totalling 451 dwellings. It is 
acknowledged that this is greater than the indicative yield. Provided the proposal 
meets all national and local planning policies and the layout, design and all technical 
aspects are acceptable, there are no reasons, in principle, why a higher number of 
dwellings cannot be provided.  
 
Compliance with Site Requirements 
 

10.8. Policy DM1 lists a number of site requirements relating to the design of the site. 
These are assessed as follows.   

Page 15



 

commrep/10 

10 

                                                                                                                                                
 
Site Requirement Application Response 

Provide good levels of visual and 
physical connectivity with the existing 
town and planned development on 
nearby sites 

Footpath connections are provided to 
Chapel Hill and the wider area through 
Phase 1  

Archaeological investigations should be 
undertaken 

A geophysical survey and trial trenching 
took place during determination of the 
outline planning application covering the 
whole of the site. The archaeological 
potential of the site was considered to 
be low 

Create green infrastructure corridors 
through the site, using existing planting 
and enhancing with new native 
hedgerow, tree and wildflower planting. 
Contribute to the creation of wider 
networks of connected green/blue 
infrastructure, in particular the creation 
of recreational footpaths in association 
with Sites B4, B21 and B22 

With respect to the area of the site 
relating to this application, green 
infrastructure corridors are provided 
around the edges of the site and 
through the centre. These link up with 
those provided in Phase 1, which are 
also to serve Phase 2. A footpath is 
provided along Chapel Hill to provide 
linkages to the wider area 

Provide above ground sustainable 
drainage (SuDS) wetland for water 
storage, biodiversity and public amenity 

Two SuDS basins are provided in 
Phase 1 of the site to serve both phases  

Retention of mature trees and 
hedgerows along the site boundaries 
where possible 

All mature trees and hedgerows along 
the site boundary are retained  

Enhance boundaries with new native 
trees and hedgerows 

Existing hedgerows will be enhanced 
and new tree planting along the 
boundaries  

Retain mature trees and hedgerows 
within the site. Where this is not 
possible compensate for any loss with 
new planting 

A group of Category C trees within the 
centre of the site and five sections of 
the central hedgerow will be removed. 
Replacement landscaping is proposed 
across the site which adequately 
compensates for this loss 

Introduce new native tree planting 
amongst the built development 

The layout includes tree lined streets 
and trees within the open spaces and 
curtilages of the dwellings 

Provide vehicle, cycle and pedestrian 
access from Chapel Hill. More than one 
cycle and pedestrian access will be 
required and more than one vehicular 
access point may also be required 

Vehicle, cycle and pedestrian access is 
provided through Phase 1 to Chapel 
Hill. One vehicular access point is 
provided to Phase 1 and three 

Page 16



 

commrep/11 

11 

pedestrian links. An emergency access 
is also provided to the A168 

Provide pedestrian and cycle links 
within the site, from the site and to 
connect to routes planned on nearby 
development sites 

As above 

Requirements for a range of technical 
reports to be submitted 

The necessary reports have been 
submitted  

 
10.9. The application therefore meets the requirements of the site allocation and Policy 

DM1 in the Local Plan.  
 

10.10. Under Section 149 of The Equality Act 2010 Local Planning Authorities must have 
due regard to the following when making decisions: (i) eliminating discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; (ii) advancing equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
(iii) fostering good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics are: age 
(normally young or older people), disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. 
 

10.11. The design and layout of the site is considered to have a positive effect on persons 
with protected characteristics. For example, pavements are wide enough to 
accommodate wheelchairs and baby/children pushchairs, public open space is 
accessible and overlooked and provides opportunities for interaction between people 
and dwellings are provided that meet accessible and adaptable standards. It is 
therefore considered that the above legislation is not prejudiced by this proposal.  
 
Affordable Housing 
 

10.12. Local Plan Policy HS2 requires 40% on site provision of affordable housing. 
Affordable homes must be integrated within the development and visually indistinct 
from the market dwellings.  
 

10.13. The application proposes 78 affordable dwellings, which is policy compliant. The mix 
includes one, two, three and four bed houses, offered for rent and shared ownership. 
The affordable housing mix is acceptable and the homes are well integrated 
throughout the site and designed so that they are indistinguishable from the market 
properties. All affordable homes meet the NDSS requirements and National Design 
Guide requirements relating to natural light and ventilation. All the affordable 
dwellings meet the M4(2) accessible and adaptable homes standard with 10% also 
meeting the M4(3) wheelchair accessible standard. The Council’s Housing Officer has 
confirmed support of the scheme, subject to the affordable housing being secured 
within the S106 Agreement.   
 
Design and Layout 
 

Page 17



 

commrep/12 

12 

10.14. Local Plan Policies HS1, HS5 and HP4 set out expectations for well-designed 
schemes. The NPPF places great importance on the creation of healthy and safe 
communities and the creation of high quality and sustainable places. The National 
Design Guide and Building for a Healthy Life also provide additional guidance on how 
well-designed places can be achieved in practice.  
 

10.15. The scheme has been amended since first submission with the layout now providing 
acceptable spaces between dwellings, increased garden sizes, tree lined streets and 
open space that is well overlooked. A green corridor is provided around the edge of 
the site, with a crushed gravel path ensuring this is accessible in all weathers. A 
central green corridor is also provided along the existing centre hedgerow. Dwellings 
front the open spaces and path connections provide good natural surveillance and 
ensure these feel safe to use. Two pedestrian links are provided to Phase 1 to the 
north in addition to the path adjacent to the vehicular access.  
 

10.16. A green verge is provided along the main circular vehicular loop within the site, which 
enables tree planting along this road. Additional tree planting is provided within the 
green corridors and within curtilages along the side streets. A children’s play area is 
provided in the southwest corner. This is an acceptable distance from the nearby 
dwellings. Comments have been provided from the Council’s Parks team regarding 
the proposed play equipment. A condition is therefore proposed to require details of 
the play equipment and play area along with maintenance and management to be 
submitted. 
 

10.17. The application proposes a range of house types and materials to comprise a blend 
of three types of red brick, with Sandtoft concrete roof tiles in a mix of grey and red 
finished across the development. These materials adequately assimilate with those of 
the Phase 1 development to the north and as viewed within the wider locale. 
Dwellings are well spaced to allow for landscaping and set back from the road with 
front gardens and hedge planting for the majority of the plots, irrespective of tenure.  
 

10.18. Corner plots have been amended to include fenestration to the side elevations, to 
provide interest and offer natural surveillance of Public Open Space and parking. The 
dwellings provide appropriate fenestration to wall ratio, with proportionate scale and 
massing. The design and appearance of the proposed house types is acceptable. 
 

10.19. Parking is a mix of garages, frontage and side parking with visitor parking 
interspersed throughout the site along the main estate road and smaller secondary 
roads. A small number of plots have garages or parking spaces divorced from their 
dwellings, which in design terms is considered far from ideal, as these do not look 
attractive and the parking is not overlooked by the dwelling it serves. However, these 
are a small number (12) and half of these are overlooked by adjacent dwellings. In 
this instance, whilst not ideal, it is not considered to cause sufficient harm to warrant 
refusal on this basis.  
 

10.20. Each dwelling is provided with an acceptable level of private amenity space of an 
adequate size for the likely occupancy. Dwellings are positioned to ensure there will 
be no adverse amenity impacts through overlooking, loss of privacy, overbearing or 
loss of light. Policy HP4 is therefore satisfied in this regard. 

Page 18



 

commrep/13 

13 

 
10.21. Local Plan Policy NE4 requires proposals to protect, enhance or restore the 

landscape character of the district and the landscape setting of settlements. 
 

10.22. The Council’s Landscape Officer raised concern with the proposals, requesting an 
additional pedestrian link through to the Phase 1 development which cannot be 
reasonably provided due to third party land ownership and that there is no path 
connection within Phase 1 to the boundary. The Officer requested an amended 
Design and Access Statement with further details on landscape informed design and 
place making. 
 

10.23. Concerns were also raised relating to rear courtyards, the provision of POS and 
permeability across the site, tree planting and species choice, hedgerow planting, 
boundary treatments, and play areas.  
 

10.24. Revised plans have been received that largely overcome the concerns raised, as 
confirmed by an updated response from the Landscape Officer. The main concern 
that remains relates to the provision of a further footpath connection to the POS on 
Phase 1 to the north. As mentioned above, no footpath was required within the Phase 
1 site to the boundary of Phase 2 in this area of the site. It is therefore not reasonable 
to request a link to the boundary if this cannot continue further north.  
 

10.25. The Police Architect Liaison Officer indicates the inclusion of a lighting scheme would 
be encouraged and this would further address concerns with surveillance. A condition 
can be included for the submission of a lighting scheme.  

 
10.26. On balance, it is considered the development as amended, adequately addresses the 

keys comments within the Landscape Officer’s response aside from the pedestrian 
linkage to the north, which is not feasible. The requirements of Policy NE4 are 
therefore satisfied.  
 

10.27. The amenity space and façade of a number of plots is considered to be impacted by 
noise levels from the A168. An amended Noise Impact Assessment has been 
provided, which includes an overheating assessment where residents would naturally 
close windows to prevent noise pollution from the highway, which may increase 
internal temperatures.  
 

10.28. Mitigation measures include 2.4m high acoustic fencing for relevant gardens and 
measures in relation to overheating prevention as recommended in the submitted 
report. The Environmental Health Department considers the mitigation measures to 
be sufficient, alongside a condition for a demolition construction management plan 
(for the single dwelling on the site) and to limit construction hours, due to the 
proximity of existing dwellings. 
 

10.29. Subject to the compliance with the conditions relating to validating the internal noise 
of the finished development, the provision of mitigation acoustic barriers, limiting 
noise form ASHPs, requiring the submission of a demolition construction 
management plan and limiting construction hours, the proposal is considered to 
comply with Local Plan Policy HP4. 

Page 19



 

commrep/14 

14 

 
10.30. Policy HS1 requires the provision of a range of house types and size to reflect and 

respond to the identified needs of the district, referencing the latest HEDNA 
(The Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment). The HEDNA 
recommended mix for open market units and the proposed mix is shown in the 
following table.  
 
 
 
Number of Bedrooms HEDNA Mix Proposed Mix 

1-Bed 0-5% 1.7% 

2-Bed 30-35% 29.1% 

3-Bed 40-45% 38.5% 

4-Bed 20-25% 30.7% 

 
10.31. The proposed mix largely meets the HEDNA recommended mix and is considered to 

be acceptable. Policy HS1 also requires 25% of the market dwellings to be built to the 
accessible and adaptable homes standard. The scheme proposes 31% of the market 
dwellings to meet this standard. Policy HS1 also expects new development to meet a 
minimum net density of 30 dwellings per hectare. A density of 26 dwellings per 
hectare is proposed. It is acknowledged that this is below the recommended density, 
however, due to the location of the site being on the rural edge of Boroughbridge, the 
density proposed is considered to be acceptable.  
 

10.32. Policy HS5 requires all new market and affordable homes to meet, as a minimum, the 
relevant Nationally Described Space Standards. The applicants have provided 
information to confirm that the proposed dwellings meet these standards.  
 

10.33. Policy CC4 requires developments to make the fullest contribution to reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions. The applicant has submitted an Energy Statement, which 
advises that the dwellings will either be fitted with air source heat pumps (149 
dwellings) or a combination of gas boilers, solar PV panels and waste water heat 
recovery systems (46 dwellings) depending on whether the plots are being built out to 
the Future Homes Standard or Part L 2021. Conditions are proposed to cover the 
solar panels and air source heat pumps. 
 
Highways and Accessibility 
 

10.34. Local Plan Policy TI1 requires developments to create safe and accessible 
communities and encourage sustainable travel behaviour. Vehicular access is 
proposed from the housing site to the north, which connects to Chapel Hill, and an 
emergency access is proposed to the A168 at the point of the existing access to the 
site. Two additional pedestrian accesses are proposed to link to Phase 1 as well as a 
circular loop around the edge of the site.  
 

Page 20



 

commrep/15 

15 

10.35. The Local Highway Authority has assessed the application as amended and indicated 
that initially raised concerns relating to the provision of adequate visibility splays, 
manoeuvring splays for larger refuse vehicles, parking provision on site, levels and 
grade, surfacing materials, street lighting and highways related landscaping have 
been addressed through amendments to the scheme.  
 

10.36. The LHA confirms that the emergency and construction access sits outside of the red 
edge line of development, therefore a S278 Agreement shall be required separate to 
a planning consent. Agreement has also been sought with the agent with regards to 
the required S106 contributions, which encompassed the following highways related 
contributions; £214,500 towards a bus service uplift; £13,000 for new bus stops and 
shelters; £36,000 for real time information displays at two bus stops; and £5,000 
towards Travel Plan monitoring. 
 

10.37. Surfacing details and technical clarification confirm that any shared surface roads are 
designed to the required 6.5 metre width (4.5 metre carriageway plus 2 metre margin) 
with cross-fall rather than camber, that new footpaths connect to the surrounding 
network, that tactile paving will be provided where needed and that final drainage 
details will be agreed through the Section 38 process.  An informative can be added 
to secure this. 
 

10.38. As such, the Highways Department raise no objections subject to the inclusion of 
conditions relating to: - the construction of the rood and footway layout; construction 
of roads prior to occupation; Construction Management Plan, a highway condition 
survey; off-site highways works; parking to be retained on site; Travel Plan and 
management of non-adopted areas. Subject to compliance with these conditions, the 
development is considered to be in line with Local Plan policy TI1. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 

10.39. Policy CC1 requires proposals to demonstrate that the development will be safe with 
respect to flood risk, without increasing flood risk elsewhere and to ensure there is no 
increase in surface water flow rate, giving priority to sustainable drainage systems 
where possible.  
 

10.40. The site lies within Flood Zone 1 with regards to fluvial flooding however has areas of 
surface water flooding within the site. As a site allocation, there is no requirement to 
apply the sequential test in line with paragraph 180 of the NPPF. A spring also exists 
in the southwestern area of the site.  
 

10.41. Attenuation ponds have been created to the north of the site, which are designed to 
also accept surface water flows from the application site. These discharge to the 
Yorkshire Water sewer north at a controlled rate. An underground attenuation tank is 
proposed in the northern part of the site, which will collect the surface water and drain 
it to the attenuation basins. The submitted FRA identifies three natural flow routes of 
surface water across the site and it is proposed to maintain these using swales 
around the southern and western edge of the site and through the central corridor.  
 

Page 21



 

commrep/16 

16 

10.42. Foul drainage will connect to the Phase 1 drainage system and drain to the existing 
Yorkshire Water sewer north of the site. Both the foul and surface water systems will 
be adopted, managed and maintained by IWNL (Independent Water Networks 
Limited) under a S104 Agreement.  
 

10.43. Yorkshire Water initially raised an objection to the layout of the proposed 
development due to the proximity of the development to the public water supply 
infrastructure. In particular, Yorkshire Water requested the removal of one tree from 
the buffer area of infrastructure and to ensure a 5m buffer to a drain to the east of the 
site. Amended plans have removed planting in this regard, with a 5m easement 
added to the plan to the eastern boundary. It is considered that the development and 
associated landscaping with the amended plans would not encroach on the public 
water supply infrastructure and this objection has been adequately resolved. 
Yorkshire Water have removed their objection and requested the inclusion of a 
condition to comply with the drainage details within the FRA. 
 

10.44. The LLFA initially raised an objection, however on receipt of an updated Flood Risk 
Assessment (dated 17.06.2025) and accompanying explanatory note, the LLFA 
confirm that their objections have been adequately addressed, subject to the 
inclusion of conditions relating to the submission of surface water drainage details 
during construction and a foul and surface water drainage scheme, in accordance 
with the submitted amended FRA. 
 

10.45. Therein and subject to compliance with conditions, the proposal would be compliant 
with Local Plan Policy CC1 and the relevant provisions of the NPPF.  

 
Landscaping and Trees 
 

10.46. Local Plan Policy NE7 advises that development should protect and enhance existing 
trees that have wildlife, landscape, historic, amenity, productive or cultural value or 
contribute to the character and/or setting of a settlement. New development should 
be designed to ensure a satisfactory relationship between buildings and new and 
existing trees, which both safeguards the future health of the trees and avoids 
unacceptable impacts upon residential amenity. Proposals that result in the loss or 
damage to ancient or veteran trees or trees subject to a Tree Preservation Order will 
not be permitted unless exceptional criteria are met.  
 

10.47. Paragraph 193 (c) of the NPPF also states that development resulting in the loss or 
deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as veteran trees) should be refused 
unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy 
exists. 
 

10.48. There are two veteran trees along the northern boundary of the site and a number of 
trees protected by Tree Preservation Order within the site and along the boundaries. 
There are a number of trees within group G7 of TPO 17/00058/TPORDR, which have 
been identified as dead, or significantly declined health and require removal, to the 
northern boundary. All other protected trees would be retained. 
 

Page 22



 

commrep/17 

17 

10.49. The veteran trees are located along the northern boundary identified as T2 and T9. A 
buffer zone has been identified and concerns were initially raised with regards to 
incursion into the root protection zone of T2. However, this has been adequately 
resolved, as clarified within the amended AIA and AMS, through decreased 
encroachment into the root protection area and appropriate fencing and protection 
during the construction phase. 
 

10.50. A number of trees are to be removed within the centre of the site and five sections of 
the central hedgerow are proposed to be removed to facilitate the development. A 
Landscaping scheme has been submitted, which shows substantial replanting of 
trees and hedgerows within the site and enhancement of existing hedgerows along 
the boundaries.  
 

10.51. The Council’s Arboricultural and Ecological Officers have been consulted and raise 
no objection with regards to the amended plans received, subject to conditions. The 
development is considered to accord with Local Plan policy NE7 and paragraph 
193(c) of the NPPF. 
 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
 

10.52. The Council has a duty to consider the conservation of biodiversity when determining 
planning applications. Paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
states that when determining planning applications, Local Planning Authorities should 
apply several principles. One of these states that if significant harm to biodiversity 
resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative 
site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused.  
 

10.53. Policy NE3 requires proposals to protect and enhance features of ecological and 
geological interest. Major developments should avoid any net loss of biodiversity. 
Provisions relating to mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) have been commenced 
for planning permissions granted in respect to an application made on or after 12 
February 2024. Permission granted for applications before this date are not subject to 
mandatory BNG. This application was submitted prior to the introduction of mandatory 
BNG therefore those provisions do not apply. 
 

10.54. The proposal includes a limited incursion into the root protection area of Veteran tree 
T2, which is an irreplaceable habitat to the north of the site. However on receipt of an 
amended AIA and AMS, which recognises both T2 and T9 as Veteran trees and 
where an appropriate buffer has been provided with minor supervised works within 
the buffer, there are no Ecological objections to the proposal within this context. 
 

10.55. The Statutory Metric and Biodiversity Net Gain Plan (FRPC, received 29.04.2025) 
and Biodiversity Enhancement Management Plan (FPRC, received 29.01.2025) have 
been submitted in support of this application, which indicates that the proposal will 
result in the loss of modified grassland, other broad-leaved woodland, and individual 
trees. This will be offset using urban trees, scrub, and grassland. 
 

Page 23



 

commrep/18 

18 

10.56. The Council’s Ecological Department provided comments to acknowledge that whilst 
the application was submitted prior to the  mandatory 10% requirement and whilst the 
details indicate that while in solely numerical terms the proposal meets no net loss of 
habitat, the loss of medium priority habitat in favour of lower priority habitat, is 
contrary to the trading rules, which is a requirement of meeting no net loss. As such, 
the proposal does not meet the criteria of the statutory metric through on-site 
provision alone. The agent has agreed that off-site credits will be purchased and this 
can reasonably be secured through condition. 
 

10.57. Subject to conditions, the proposal is considered to meet the requirements of NE3 
and provisions of the NPPF in this regard. 
 
 
Other matters 
 

10.58. The application is supported by A Geo-Environmental Appraisal by Lithos 
Ref;3239/2B dated November 2023.  
 

10.59. The site had a farmhouse which is to be demolished, and part of the site was used as 
a poultry farm with poultry sheds. There was also a shed on site that housed farm 
machinery such as bailers, tractors etc and also on site were two animal incinerators. 
Anecdotal evidence suggests that there were animal carcasses buried in the 
southeast part of the site and also buried asbestos to the west of the farmhouse. 
 

10.60. The Council’s Environmental Health team recommend conditions relating to ground 
contamination and the submission of a land contamination remediation strategy, 
implementation and the submission of a verification report. Subject to compliance 
with these conditions, the proposal is considered to comply with Local Plan Policy 
NE9 and provisions of the NPPF with regards to Land Contamination. 
 
Educational Contributions 
 

10.61. The proposal does not provide on-site education provision and contributions for off-
site student places are sought for the expansion of places to existing schools, at a 
total cost of £1,046,152.80. The Education Authority provided a breakdown of 
required contributions for the expansion places as follows; £769,230 for Primary 
School Places, £123,076.80 for Special Provision and £153,846.00 for Early Years 
Places. The agent has agreed to the contributions within the submitted draft Heads of 
Terms for a Legal Agreement. 
 
Public Open Space Contributions 

 
10.62. On Site Public Open Space is provided, with a maintenance contribution of 

£245,631.73 requested by the Parks Department. Taking into account of the on-site 
provision and on consideration of both the anticipated occupation numbers and 
distance to off-site facilities, off site contributions are required and broken down as 
follows; £141,482.96 for Public Open Space contributions relating to allotments, 
cemeteries and outdoor sports facilities; £297,801.63 for the provision of village halls, 

Page 24



 

commrep/19 

19 

which gives a total of £439,284.59 for off-site contributions. The agent has agreed to 
the contributions within the submitted draft Heads of Terms for a Legal Agreement. 
 
 
S106 Legal Agreement 

10.63. The following Heads of Terms have been agreed with the applicant for this 
application. 

Table 1 
Category/Type Contribution Amount & Trigger 
Education Primary, Secondary, Special 

provision and Early Years 
School expansion places.  

£1,046,152.80 index linked, 
Prior to first occupation 

POS Delivery 
and 
Maintenance 

Off-site POS Contribution 
 
Village Halls 
 
Total Communicated sum for 
off-site provision 
 
On Site Maintenance 
Contribution 
 
Total Commuted sums and 
management in accordance 
with SPD 
 
 
Provision of POS Management 
Plan 
 

£141,482.96 
 
£297,801.63 
 
£439,284.59 
 
 
£245,631.73 
 
 
£684,916.32 
In instalments upon 
completion of phases of the 
development. 
 
Prior to commencement of 
development 

Biodiversity Net 
Gain 

To secure the establishment 
and retention of the proposed 
post-development habitats and 
for maintenance, monitoring 
and reporting for a minimum 
period of 30 years. 
 
BNG Monitoring Fee 

Approval of Biodiversity 
Enhancement Management 
Plan and completion of 
BEMP works within 12 
months of occupation.  
 
 
£3,986.00 Monitoring and 
reporting at various stages.  
 

Highways Bus Service Uplift. 
 
 
 
 
New Bus stops and shelters 
 
 
 
Real Time Information 
Displays 
 
 
Travel Plan Monitoring 
 

£71,500 per year from 
occupation and 1 year and 2 
year anniversaries (£214,500 
total, £1,100 per dwelling). 
 
£13,000 per shelter (1 
required prior to first 
occupation) 
 
£18,000 for two bus stops 
(approx. £36,000 total) 
 
£5,000 
 
£250,500 

Page 25



 

commrep/20 

20 

Highways Total 
Affordable 
Housing 

40% on site provision In accordance with the AH 
SPD 

Monitoring S106 Monitoring  £571 index linked, prior to 
commencement of 
development 

 
10.64. It is considered that the above S106 Heads of Terms are necessary, directly related 

to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development and as such complies with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Regulations 2010. 

 
11.0 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
11.1. Policy DM1 identifies the site as falling within housing allocation B12: Land at Stump 

Cross, Boroughbridge. The principle of housing development on the site is therefore 
acceptable. 

 
11.2. The technical details of the application have been amended to address concerns 

raised within comments received from consultees.  
 
11.3. Technical matters relating to highways, design, sustainability, heritage, landscape, 

ecology, trees and land contamination are acceptable and meet relevant Local Plan 
policies.  
 

11.4. It is considered that the benefit of the provision of 195 dwellings on an allocated site 
provides a significant contribution to the delivery of housing where the Council 
housing land supply is currently 2.8 years. There is not considered to be material 
harm created by the development to outweigh the benefits of the scheme. The 
application is therein, recommended for approval. 
 
 

12.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
12.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions listed below and 

completion of a S106 agreement with terms as detailed in Table 1.  
 
 
 Recommended conditions: 
 
 Condition 1 Time Limit 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun on or before 3 years from the date 
of the granting of this consent. 
 
Reason; To ensure compliance with Sections 91-94 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
 Condition 2 Approved Plans 
  

Page 26



 

commrep/21 

21 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
application form and the following drawings and details submitted with the application 
as amended by the conditions of this consent; 
 
Location Plan; drwg no. 1305. 01 Rev B 
Site Layout Plan; drwg no. 1305.05, Rev U 
Site Layout in Context drwg no; 1305.06 Rev N 
Proposed Boundary Treatments Plan; drwg no. 1305.07 Rev Q 
Proposed Parking Distributions; drwg no. 1305.15 Rev H 
Proposed Management Plan; drwg no 1305 20 Rev D 
Proposed Materials Plan; drwg no. 1305 25 Rev A 
Proposed Land Levels; drwg no. 004/PLL-01 REV B 
House Type A; drwg no 1305.100 REV A 
House Type B; drwg no 1305.101 REV A 
House Type C; drwg no 1305.102 REV A 
House Type C (Plot 104); drwg no 1305.103 REV A 
House Type D; drwg no 1305.104 REV A 
House Type E (Detached); drwg no 1305.105 REV A 
House Type E (Semi detached); drwg no 1305.106 REV A 
House Type G; drwg no 1305.107 REV A 
House Type T – G (semi); drwg no 1305.108 REV A 
House Type H (Detached); drwg no 1305.109 REV A 
House Type H (Semi); drwg no 1305.110 REV A 
House Type I; drwg no 1305.111 REV A 
House Type K; drwg no 1305.112 REV A 
House Type N; drwg no 1305.113 REV A 
House Type O; drwg no 1305.114 REV A 
House Type S; drwg no 1305.115 REV A 
House Type T; drwg no 1305.116 REV A 
House Type W; drwg no 1305.117 REV A 
House Type X; drwg no 1305.118 REV A 
House Type Y; drwg no 1305.119 REV A 
House Type Z; drwg no 1305.120 REV A 
Single Garage; drwg no 1305.130  
Double Garage (gabled); drwg no 1305.131  
Double Garage (hipped); drwg no 1305.132  
Sales Double garage; drwg no 1305.133  
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 1 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0001, Rev P18 
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 2 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0002, Rev P18 
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 3 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-000, Rev P18 
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 4 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0004, Rev P18 
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 5 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0005, Rev P18 
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 6 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0006, Rev P18 

Page 27



 

commrep/22 

22 

Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 7 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0007, Rev P18 
Phase 2 Details POS and Strategic On-Plot Landscaping Plan, Sheet 8 of 8; drawing 
no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0008, Rev P18 

 Open Space Typologies; drwg no. 12066-FPCR-ZZ-XX-DR-L-0019 REV P04 
Close Couples Substation Pyramid Roof Detail; drwg no. GTC-E-SS-0012_R2-
1_1_OF_1 
Fence Detail Plan; drwg no. SD-9-05 Rev A 

  
Reason; For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
 Condition 3 Materials 

Before the first use of the materials in the external construction of the development 
hereby approved, samples of those materials shall have been made available on site 
for inspection by, and for the written approval of, the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the special character of the street scene and 
landscape in line with policies HP3 and NE4, and provisions of the NPPF. 
 
Condition 4 Contamination Remediation 

  
Where site remediation is recommended in the Local Authority approved Phase II 
Intrusive Site Investigation Report groundworks shall not commence until a land 
contamination  remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority.  The remediation strategy shall include a timetable for the 
implementation and completion of the approved remediation measures. 

 
 Reason; To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
Condition 5 Land Contamination Remediation Strategy Implementation 

  
Land contamination remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the Local Planning Authority approved Remediation Strategy.  In the 
event that remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or contamination not previously considered in either the 
Preliminary Risk Assessment or the  Phase II Intrusive Site Investigation Report is 
identified or encountered on site, all  groundworks in the affected area (save for site 
investigation works) shall cease immediately and the local planning authority shall be 
notified in writing within 2 working days.  Works shall not recommence until proposed 
revisions to the Remediation Strategy have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority.  Remediation of the site shall thereafter be carried out 
in accordance with the approved revised Remediation Strategy. 

 

Page 28



 

commrep/23 

23 

Reason; To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

  
Condition 6 Submission of Land Contamination Verification Report  

 
Following completion of any measures identified in the approved Remediation 
Strategy or any  approved revised Remediation Strategy a land contamination 
Verification Report shall be submitted to the local planning authority.  No part of the 
site shall be brought into use until  such time as the remediation measures have 
been completed for that part of the site in  accordance with the approved 
Remediation Strategy or the approved revised Remediation Strategy and a 
Verification Report in respect of those remediation measures has been approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  Where verification has been submitted and 
approved in stages for different areas of the whole site, a Final Verification Summary 
Report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason; To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

  
Condition 7 Detailed Plans of Road and Footway Layout  
 
No development shall take place until detailed engineering drawings of all proposed 
estate roads, footways, surface water drainage and the connection to the existing 
highway network including the emergency or construction access onto the A168 have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Highway Authority.  
 
Reason; To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress to the premises, in the 
interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective highway users. 

 
Condition 8 Construction of Adoptable Roads and Footways Prior to 
Occupation  
 
No dwelling shall be occupied until the carriageway and footway which provide 
access to that dwelling have been constructed to at least base course level and street 
lighting installed and operational.  
 
Reason; To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress to the premises, in the 
interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective highway users. 

 
Condition 9 Construction Management Plan  
 
No development shall take place until a detailed Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 

Page 29



 

commrep/24 

24 

consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The plan shall include parking for 
contractors’ vehicles, loading and unloading of plant and materials, storage of 
materials, wheel washing, measures to control dust and dirt, HGV routing including 
use of the A168 construction access and measures to protect the public highway.  
 
Reason; In the interest of highways safety during the construction period. 

 
Condition 10 Condition Survey of the Existing Highway  
 
Prior to commencement of development a condition survey of the existing public 
highway (A168) adjacent to the site access shall be carried out and agreed in writing 
with the Local Highway Authority. On completion any damage attributable to 
construction traffic shall be made good by the developer to the satisfaction of the 
Local Highway Authority.  
 
Reason; In the interest of maintaining the condition of the highways in the interest of 
highways safety. 

 
 
 
 

Condition 11 Visibility Splays  
 
Visibility splays shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the approved 
plans. There shall be no obstruction over 0.6 metres in height within the splays at any 
time.  
 
Reason; To ensure safe and appropriate access and egress to the premises, in the 
interests of highway safety and the convenience of all prospective highway users. 

 
Condition 12 Off-site Highway Works  
 
Details of the off-site works including the emergency or construction access tie-in to 
the A168 and bus stop infrastructure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Highway Authority prior to commencement. These works must be 
completed before first occupation or as otherwise agreed.  
 
Reason; In the interests of sustainable development. 

 
Condition 13 Parking for Dwellings Parking spaces including visitor bays shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved drawings before occupation and 
retained for that purpose.  
 
Reason; To ensure appropriate on-site facilities in the interests of highway safety and 
the general amenity of the development. 

 
Condition 14 Travel Plan  
 

Page 30



 

commrep/25 

25 

The approved Travel Plan (compiled by Ashley Helme Associations, document 
1586/7/C), received 13.03.2025 shall be implemented and monitored for the agreed 
period with all monitoring costs covered by the developer.  
 
Reason; In the interests of sustainable development and highways safety. 

 
Condition 15 Surfacing Specification  
 
Prior to commencement a detailed surfacing materials plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Highway Authority. The plan shall confirm block 
paving colours and pattern (brindle, red or charcoal in a herringbone pattern) and 
tarmac specification for all adoptable areas.  
 
Reason; In the interest of delineating spaces in the interest of highways safety and in 
the interest of visual amenity. 
 
Condition 16 Management of Non-adopted Areas  
 
A scheme for the management and maintenance of all non-adopted highway areas 
including visibility splays and verges shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Highway Authority before occupation. Trees within or adjacent to the 
adoptable highway shall include root barriers or tree pits as agreed through the 
Section 38 or 278 process. 
 
Reason; In the interest of highways safety and amenity. 

 
Condition 17 CEcMP 
 
A Construction Ecological Management Plan must be submitted for the written 
approval of the local planning authority prior to the commencement of works. The 
CEcMP must be informed by the recommendations of the Ecological Impact 
Assessment, together with an updating ecological walkover survey. The CEcMP must 
provide details of the arrangements to protect retained habitats and protected and 
priority species and for the control of invasive species, as required, during the course 
of construction. It must also include details of enhancements for species (e.g. swift 
and bat bricks, hedgehog highways) which are to be incorporated into the 
development. Works must subsequently be undertaken strictly in accordance with the 
agreed CEcMP and a copy of the CEcMP must be retained on site and made 
available to site managers and operatives throughout the course of construction of 
that phase.  
 
Reason; To avoid harm to retained habitats and protected and priority species during 
the course of works and to prevent the spread of invasive species and to provide 
opportunities for wildlife to continue to be able to utilise the site, following its 
redevelopment. 

 
Condition 18 Biodiversity Net Gain Habitat Units 
 

Page 31



 

commrep/26 

26 

Prior to the commencement of development evidence must be submitted for the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority to confirm purchase of sufficient 
habitat units from a habitat bank that is registered with Natural England. The amount 
of habitat units to be purchased must be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, based upon the completion of the final agreed version of Statutory Metric 
calculations and must be sufficient to ensure no net loss of biodiversity.     

Reason; Reason; In the interests of preserving and enhancing biodiversity in relation 
to mandatory BNG and Local Plan Policy NE3. 

 
Condition 19 Surface Water during construction 

 
No phase of the development shall take place until detailed drawings have been 
submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority showing how surface 
water will be managed during the construction phases. 
 
Reason: To ensure the site is properly drained. 
 
Condition 20 Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy 

 
Development shall not commence until a scheme in accordance with the principles 
and designs detailed in the approved FRA by FORTEM, Flood Risk Assessment, 
Reference, 1194-R001-V5, Revision 5, Dated 17 June 2025 detailing foul and surface 
water drainage has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme to be submitted shall demonstrate that the surface water 
drainage system(s) are designed in accordance with the standards detailed in North 
Yorkshire Council SuDS Design Guidance, with particular note to sections 4 to 8 (or 
any subsequent update or replacement for that document). Thereafter the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and no 
piped discharge of surface water from the application site shall take place until the 
approved works to provide a satisfactory outfall have been completed. The scheme 
shall be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development and will include: 
(a) a timetable for its implementation 
(b) condition survey results for existing ditches watercourses/sewers, including details 
of outfall destination and how any identified remedial items will be dealt with. 
(c) a restricted discharge of surface water to 500l/s into the Phase 1 750mm surface 
water drainage stub. 
(d) a drainage system designed with sufficient on site attenuation so that flooding 
does not occur on any part of the site for a 1 in 30 year rainfall event, nor any flooding 
for a 1 in 100 year rainfall event in any part of a building (including a basement) or in 
any utility plant susceptible to water (e.g. pumping station or electricity substation) 
within the development, except within an area that is designed to hold and/or convey 
water. The design shall also ensure that storm water resulting from a 1 in 100 year 
rainfall event, plus a 45% allowance to account for climate change & a further 10% 
urban creep can be stored on the site without risk to people or property and without 
increasing the restricted flows off site. 
(e) details with regard to pollution control from parking and hard standing areas 
(f) a site plan showing the exceedence flow routes during extreme storm conditions 
over the 1 in 100 year event or exceedence or failure of the drainage system. 

Page 32



 

commrep/27 

27 

(g) details with regard to the maintenance and management of the approved scheme 
to include; drawings showing any surface water assets to be vested with the statutory 
undertaker/highway authority and subsequently maintained at their expense, and/or 
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the approved drainage 
scheme/sustainable urban drainage systems throughout the lifetime of the 
development including: 
(i) funding arrangements for on-going maintenance 
(ii) drawings showing any surface water assets that will not be maintained at public 
expense including responsible organisation & contact details 
(iii) copies of any legal agreement/maintenance charges to be established with future 
homeowners 
(iv) physical access arrangements 
(v) establishment of easements/maintenance responsibility/liability with third party 
landowners. 
(vi) maintenance requirements & frequency 
(vii) procedures to assure on-going maintenance if the appointed management 
company or organisation responsible for future maintenance ceases to exist, to 
include details identifying who undertakes the process of appointing a new 
management company on behalf of the residents. 
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate and sustainable means of drainage in 
the interests of amenity and flood risk. 

 
Condition 21 Validation Report Confirming Noise Levels Achieved  

Before first occupation, the developer shall provide written evidence to the local 
planning authority to demonstrate that the following internal sound levels have been 
achieved in 2 plots on the western boundary of the site, namely plots 116 and 135 
and one plot on the north-western boundary of the site, namely plot 113. ((tern 
boundary of the site; 
 
A) The 16hr LAeq shall not exceed 35dB between 0700 and 2300 hours when 
readings are taken in any noise sensitive rooms in the development. 
B) The 8hr LAeq shall not exceed 30dB between 2300 and 0700 hours when 
readings are taken inside any bedroom in the development. 
C) The LAFMax indoor shall not exceed 45 dB (more than 10 times) between 
2300 and 0700hrs when readings are taken inside any bedroom in the development. 
D) The 16hr LAeq shall not exceed 55dB in the amenity areas in the plots 
indicated in drawing LD11153/003 of the Noise Impact Assessment by Wardell 
Armstrong Ref: LD11153 0001 v3.0 (Final) dated March 2025 and Drawing 1305.07 
Rev Q. dated 21.07.2025. 

If it cannot be demonstrated that the aforementioned sound levels have been 
achieved, a further scheme incorporating further measures to achieve those sound 
levels shall be submitted for the written approval of the LPA.  All works comprised 
within those further measures shall be completed and written evidence to 
demonstrate that the aforementioned sound levels have been achieved shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 
development is first brought into use. 
 

Reason; In the interest of safeguard the residential amenity of future occupants. 
Page 33



 

commrep/28 

28 

  
 Condition 22 Acoustic Barriers 
 

Before the development is brought into use, details of acoustic barriers indicated in 
drawing LD11153/003 of the Noise Impact Assessment by Wardell Armstrong Ref: 
LD1115 0001 v3.0 (Final) dated March 2025 and Drawing 1305.07 Rev Q. dated 21 
July 2025 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The use hereby approved shall not commence until the construction of the 
acoustic barriers has been completed and those works shall be retained thereafter for 
the lifetime of the development. 
Reason; In the interest of safeguarding future occupants from traffic noise. 

 
     Condition 23 Demolition and Construction Management plan: 

 
Before the commencement of the demolition and preparatory construction phase the 
applicant shall provide a written Construction Management Plan detailing how noise 
and dust from the demolition and construction activities will be minimised. This plan 
should be provided by a suitably competent person for the written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority. Such an assessment should identify all noise and dust 
mitigation measures to be employed during preparatory construction phases. Section 
8.3.1 of Noise Impact Assessment by Wardell Armstrong ref: LD11153 0001 v3.0 
(Final) dated March 2025 provides guidance on what should be included with respect 
to noise. 
Such measures as approved shall be fully implemented and maintained during the 
preparatory and construction phases. 
 
Reason; In the interest of safeguarding against unacceptable harm to amenity during 
demolition and construction. 
 
Condition 24 Restrictions to Construction Working Hours 
 
The hours of work on site shall be controlled and restricted to 
08:00 until 18:00 Mondays to Fridays 
08:00 until 13:00 Saturdays 
No work on Sundays or Bank Holidays 
 
Reason; In the interest of residential amenity. 

 
Condition 25 Root Protection Fencing 
 
Before any materials are brought onto the site or any development is commenced, 
the developer shall implement the agreed specification within Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment (Rev F, compiled by FPRC received 05.08.2025)  for root protection area 
(RPA) fencing in line with the requirements of British Standard BS 5837: 2012 Trees 
in Relation to Construction - Recommendations, or any subsequent amendments to 
that document, around the trees or shrubs or planting to be retained, as indicated on 
the approved plan and for the area as specified in accordance with BS 5837:2012. 
The developer shall maintain such fences until all development the subject of this 
permission is completed. 

Page 34



 

commrep/29 

29 

 
Reason; In the interest of the health and visual amenity of trees to be retained. 
 
Condition 26 Accordance with Arboricultural Method Statement 
 
Works relating to this development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
submitted Arboricultural Method Statement (compiled by FPRC received 05.08.2025), 
unless agreed in writing by the LPA.  
 
Reason; In the interest of the health and visual amenity of trees to be retained. 
 
Condition 26 Timing for Root Protection Area Fencing 

 
No operations shall commence on site in connection with the development hereby 
approved (including any demolition work, soil moving, temporary access construction 
and/or widening or any operations involving the use of motorised vehicles or 
construction machinery) until the root protection area (RPA) works required by the 
approved tree protection scheme are in place. 
 
Reason; In the interest of the health and visual amenity of trees to be retained. 
 
 
 
Condition 27 Tree or Shrub Failure 

 
In the event of any failure of any trees or shrubs planted in accordance with any 
scheme approved by the Local Planning Authority to survive for a period of five years 
from the date of completion of implementation of that scheme, such trees or shrubs 
shall be replaced by the developer with such live specimens of such species in such 
number as may be approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason; In the interest of visual amenity and longevity of planting scheme. 

 
Condition 28 Planting Management and Maintenance 

 
Prior to occupation of the buildings hereby approved, a Planting Management and 
Maintenance Plan must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason; In the interest of ensuring implementation and longevity of planting scheme. 
 
Condition 29 Lighting details 
 
Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling within the development here permitted, 
installation of an external lighting scheme shall be provided to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval, including the location, number and specification of the lighting. 
The lighting scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved 
and maintained and retained as such for the lifetime of the development. 
 

Page 35



 

commrep/30 

30 

Reason; In the interest of security and residential amenity. 
 
Condition 30 Garage Conversion 

The garages within the development hereby permitted, shall not be converted to or 
be used for the purposes of habitable use unless approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason; In the interest of residential amenity and to ensure adequate parking 

provision within the site for the purposes of highways safety. 
 
Condition 31 Trim Trail Details 
 
Details of the Trim Trail, denoted as ‘Play’ demonstrated to the south of the site as 
indicated on Site Layout Plan (drwg no. 1305.05, Rev U, received 21.07.2025) shall 
be submitted to and for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. Details 
shall include the siting, layout and specification of the trim trail equipment. Thereafter, 
the development shall accord strictly in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
Reason; In the interest of providing suitable play equipment for future occupants of 
the site. 
 
 
 
 
Condition 32 Play Equipment Details 
 
Details of the play equipment to the park, denoted as ‘Play’, to the south west of the 
site as indicated on the Site Layout Plan (drwg no. 1305.05, Rev U, received 
21.07.2025) shall be submitted to and for the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. Details shall include the siting, layout and specification of the trim trail 
equipment. Thereafter, the development shall accord strictly in accordance with the 
approved plans. 
 
Reason; In the interest of providing suitable play equipment for future occupants of 
the site. 
 

 
Informatives 
 
1  The emergency and construction access is shown but sits outside the red line 

boundary. A Section 278 Agreement will be needed for this tie-in. Clarification is 
required on how vehicles will cross the informal footpath safely, including surfacing 
detail and any tactile paving. 

 
2 Commuted sums for any non-standard adoptable features such as street trees near 

footways, additional street lighting or special surfacing will be agreed through the 
Section 38 process and secured through the Section 38 Agreement. 

 
3 Final block paving colours, patterns and tarmac specification should be secured by 

condition and agreed through the Section 38 process. Page 36



 

commrep/31 

31 

 
4 The applicant should confirm that any shared surface roads are designed to the 

required 6.5 metre width (4.5 metre carriageway plus 2 metre margin) with cross-fall 
rather than camber, that new footpaths connect to the surrounding network, that 
tactile paving will be provided where needed and that final drainage details will be 
agreed through the Section 38 process. 

 
5 Onsite BNG, its establishment, maintenance and monitoring, through the 

implementation of a Biodiversity Enhancement and Management Plan, will need to be 
secured for a minimum period of 30 years through a Section 106 agreement, which 
will need to include provision for monitoring by the NYC Ecology Team.  

 
6. The development is subject to a Planning Obligation made under Section 106 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 
Target Determination Date: 15.08.2025 
 
Case Officer: Emma Walsh, emma.walsh@northyorks.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Page 37

mailto:emma.walsh@northyorks.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes for the Meeting held on 27 May 2025
	Minutes

	4 ZC24/00007/FULMAJ - Land comprising field at 439839 464979, Boroughbridge. North Yorkshire
	North Yorkshire Council


